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Hearing commenced at 2.58 pm 
 
Dr DAVID TURNER RANSOM 
Medical Oncologist and Co-director, WA Cancer and Palliative Care Network, Department of 
Health, examined: 
 
Ms AMANDA JANE BOLLETER 
Program Manager, Palliative Care, Department of Health, examined: 
 
 

The CHAIR: On behalf of the committee, I would like to thank you for agreeing to appear today to 
provide evidence in the end-of-life choices inquiry.  

My name is Amber-Jade Sanderson; I am the chair of the committee. I would like to introduce the 
other members of the committee: Hon Dr Sally Talbot, MLC; John McGrath, MLA; Dr Jeannine Purdy, 
our principal research officer; Reece Whitby, MLA; Simon Millman, MLA; Hon Colin Holt, MLC; 
Hon Nick Goiran, MLC; and, Hon Robin Chapple, MLC. They are a lot of names to remember.  

The purpose of today’s hearing is to discuss the current arrangements for end-of-life choices in WA 
and to highlight any gaps that may exist. It is important that you understand that any deliberate 
misleading of this committee may be regarded as a contempt of Parliament. Your evidence is 
protected by parliamentary privilege; however, this privilege does not apply to anything that you 
may say outside of today’s proceedings. I advise that the proceedings of this hearing will be 
broadcast live within Parliament House and via the internet. Would you please introduce yourself 
for the record? 

Dr RANSOM: My name is David Ransom. I am a medical oncologist. I am not a palliative care 
physician. I have been a consultant medical oncologist in Western Australia for 25 years. Previously, 
I have been head of medical oncology at Royal Perth Hospital, and head of medical oncology at 
St John of God, Subiaco. I currently work at Fiona Stanley Hospital as a medical oncologist and I am 
currently co-director and principal medical adviser for the WA Cancer and Palliative Care Network.  

I have been going through the transcripts and read what has been said. I think that principally I will 
appear here as a medical oncologist and not as a health department representative, because you 
have had a lot of people who have represented the health department and my role as a practising 
medical oncologist is probably of more value to this committee.  

The other thing I want to say is that a number of my patients are long-term survivors and they do 
not all need palliative care.  

The CHAIR: That is a good point to make. Do you have any questions about your evidence here 
today?  

Dr RANSOM: No. 

The CHAIR: Before we begin our questions, do you want to make a brief opening statement?  

Dr RANSOM: I think I have!  

The CHAIR: I understand that you were going to provide a clinical overview of three or four case 
studies that may illustrate the strengths and gaps in palliative care. 

[3.00 pm] 

Dr RANSOM: The first case I thought I would talk about, as far as the strength of the system was 
concerned, was in relation to the palliative care of my father. My father died in 1993 from metastatic 
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prostate cancer, and, on the whole, I thought his palliative care was pretty good. After it became 
apparent that he had a terminal illness, his quality of life was pretty good for a number of years, but 
then towards the end, he had widespread disease in his skeleton and his lungs and his health 
deteriorated markedly. He was looked after at home with the hospice Silver Chain service, and I 
thought they did a terrific job looking after him. We had nurses visiting every day or two to help out 
with his pain relief. Those were the days when you were allowed to have ampoules of morphine in 
the fridge. Mum had a couple of ampoules of morphine in the fridge, and if dad needed a bit of pain 
relief that was not sufficient through the pump, she would give him some subcutaneously. I note 
that now that is not allowed, which might not be so good. I thought he had good care and I think it 
needs to be said that palliative care in Australia, as far as I can tell, is pretty good. I visit my colleagues 
in the USA and see what they do over there and I have some colleagues who work in India, and we 
are a long way ahead of a number of other jurisdictions.  

The next case I want to go to is a patient I had admitted under my care two weeks ago. He had been 
looked after in Peel by another medical oncologist, but the Peel guys felt that they could not look 
after him because he was at risk of catastrophic bleeding. His primary carcinoma was at the distal 
end of the oesophagus and his tumour was widespread through his lungs and liver. He had had the 
disease for a long time and was clearly approaching the end of his life. He was 50 years old; he 
probably weighed 50 kilograms. He came into hospital and we gave him some treatment to try to 
stop his potential for catastrophic bleeding, but the problem then came to the time of his discharge. 
The problem was that he was 50 years old. His life expectancy was many weeks. His wife was 
disabled and he was her carer, and obviously he needed a carer. We were talking about him going 
to a nursing home and the reason why we talked about him going to a nursing home is that, generally 
speaking, hospices around town only take patients with very short life expectancies. If patients are 
anticipated to live for many weeks and perhaps a month, they will not accept those patients because 
their beds will become blocked. Do you guys want to ask about either of those cases?  

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I think keep going.  

The CHAIR: Keep going. You have got other case studies. I will call for questions.  

Dr RANSOM: In case number 3, let us call her Rita. I initially saw Rita—because I do a lot of upper 
GI cancer—and she had a carcinoma of the distal oesophagus. Initially, we thought she was 
potentially curable. She had preoperative chemotherapy and then she had her operation. She got 
through her operation and then she came back for follow-up, and about four or five months after 
her operation, it became apparent that her disease was widespread and she was in an incurable 
situation. She then elected to have palliative chemotherapy and went through a number of 
chemotherapy cycles, but then, really, she ran out of drugs that were likely to be effective and we 
had a conversation really to say, “Well, Rita, you’ve tried three chemotherapies now. I really don’t 
think realistically there are any other chemotherapies that are likely to work. Therefore, I think your 
management should be on a symptomatic basis and that is, we won’t give you any medication to 
slow down the cancer, but we will treat the symptoms.” I anticipated that she would get symptoms 
fairly soon—she was moderately symptomatic at that stage—so I made a referral to the hospice 
Silver Chain service and they provided for her care. As is my usual practice, I offer everybody a 
follow-up appointment. When I saw Rita, I said, “Okay, Rita, we’re moving into the palliative phase 
of your treatment now. Obviously, that’s quite an emotional time for the family. I am going to make 
a referral to hospice Silver Chain. They should come within the next four or five working days and 
here’s an appointment to come and see me in three or four weeks.” My standard line is: “If at the 
time you would like to talk to me, you are welcome to come along. However, if you feel at the time 
that the appointment is not appropriate, please call a couple of days beforehand and cancel.” What 
happened is not super common, but not particularly uncommon. Rita did not turn up, but her 
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daughter turned up and said, “Doctor, I just wanted to come along and say thanks for looking after 
my mum. My mum is going to die in the next couple of days. Thank you for your care.” She passed 
on in the next few days and I assume the family was relatively happy with the hospice Silver Chain 
service.  

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: You have got one more, have you not?  

Dr RANSOM: I have got another one. I am rostered on for Fiona Stanley. I am on call for the week. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: The hospital rather than the person? 

[3.10 pm] 

Dr RANSOM: As far as I know, Fiona is alive and well and enjoying her yoga classes in Denmark!  

I am rostered on and I turn up to do the ward round on Saturday morning. I walk onto the ward, and 
as I walk onto the ward, the door to a patient’s room is open and there is this man in his early 70s. 
He is being nursed on a mattress on the floor because he is thrashing about in the bed and cannot 
be nursed in bed because he is a fall risk. They put the mattress on the floor and he was nursed on 
the floor and because he was so agitated, he had taken off all his clothes. So as you walked onto the 
ward, there is this guy lying on a mattress on the floor, no clothes on, and he has got mitts on his 
hands to stop him pulling out stuff. I thought, “Okay. This is not going to be an easy situation to deal 
with.” I had never met the guy before. He is not my regular patient. The medical team and I talked 
to the shift coordinator. We stand out and we spend quite some time trying to work out why he has 
deteriorated so much because as far as we could work out, the day before he was not too bad. He 
had metastatic colon cancer so he had a terminal malignancy, but obviously in the previous 24 hours 
he had deteriorated markedly. We went through the differential diagnosis of why this person would 
deteriorate so quickly. There was no easy diagnosis that came to mind that was easily reversible. 
We went through the list of causes of confusion that we could easily reverse. All those came up 
blank. We were left with a differential diagnosis of either intracerebral bleed—so the tumour is 
metastatic and then you bleed from the tumour in the brain and you have a big intracerebral 
hematoma—or terminal delirium. What were the main management issues for this man? First of 
all, is there anything that we can easily reverse? The answer to that question was no, and therefore 
we were left with a couple of diagnoses that mean that the person will die soon. We needed to 
recognise the fact that he was going to go die soon and manage him appropriately. We spoke to the 
nursing staff. We decided we would nurse him with the door closed. We could not hydrate him 
because we could not keep a line in because of his confusion. We gave him sedation to relieve his 
distress from thrashing about in the bed. Obviously, it was very distressing for his relatives to see 
their husband and father on the floor thrashing about confused. It was very stressing for the family 
so it was important to manage, to talk to the family and to have some sedation so that this man 
became peaceful in his final hours on this earth. We talked to the family about what was going on 
and we arranged initially subcutaneous sedation because he would not keep a pump in. He died the 
next day. There are four cases. 

The CHAIR: Thank you. Do members have questions? 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Yes. Stories two and four, presumably you have given to us as an example 
of the failure of palliative care. 

Dr RANSOM: I do not think number four was a failure. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: That is what I want to tease out. Let us take the second one—the Peel chap. 

Dr RANSOM: The Peel guy is clearly a gap. 
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Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Because what we have been hearing all morning, and I think you have been 
here for most of the hearings. 

Dr RANSOM: I heard a little bit on the web and I sat in for the previous one, but I have not been 
here all day. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: We have had a lot of evidence about palliative care, and the providers of 
palliative care would like to start engaging with people early in the process rather than at the 
moment when it all goes pear-shaped and it is a bit late for making decisions. Your number two, the 
Peel man, would have presumably been one of the cases in which you would have liked to have 
engaged the palliative care providers even though his death was, I think you said, months away or 
within a year. 

Dr RANSOM: No, he was going to die in three months. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Why did he not engage with palliative care services? 

Dr RANSOM: He could engage with palliative care; that is not the problem. The problem is where is 
he going to be? He cannot be at home. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: So it was an issue of his carer not being able to provide the care? 

Dr RANSOM: He cannot be at home. We have a pressure on beds at Fiona Stanley Hospital. We have 
to turn them over. People cannot stay in acute beds for weeks and weeks and weeks. We have 
ambulance ramping. We are forever going into overflow. We have patients who are regularly—the 
ward goes into overflow and therefore we put a bed up in the patient gym. That happens quite 
regularly. Patients cannot stay on; it is an acute medical ward to sort out acute problems. It is not 
for people to stay there for weeks waiting in the terminal phase of their illness. It is not a failure of 
palliative care; it is a failure that there are not enough hospice beds, which is a bit different. 

Mr J.E. McGRATH: The hospice would not have saved case four, would it? 

Dr RANSOM: No. It just all happened in 12 hours. 

Mr J.E. McGRATH: It all happened very quickly. You did your best. You talked to the family. That 
would be a medical situation that could happen every day of the week. It happens quite quickly. 

Dr RANSOM: Yes. The case was to illustrate that there is a number of scenarios—sometimes 
unexpected things happen and you have to deal with it. I do not think we asked the palliative care 
team to be involved in his care, because we thought, this is 10 o’clock on a Saturday morning. 
I thought, “Do I get the pal care team? I think we can do it ourselves”—and so that is what we did. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: So cases one and three fit neatly within the existing service provision model. 

Dr RANSOM: Yes. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I want to pick up on case two. Thanks for providing it. One of the benefits of this 
committee is being able to identify some of the gaps and see what can be done about it. That case, 
you have indicated that that could be resolved by there being more beds available in hospices. In 
his case, if I heard the story correctly, he was also the carer for his wife. 

Dr RANSOM: Correct. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Was that the blockage in terms of him being cared for at home? 

Dr RANSOM: To be cared for at home, you need someone who is willing to help out. If you do not 
have somebody who is willing to help out, it is really not possible to be looked after at home. You 
can do it for a little while but if somebody is really unwell, you need a carer to be at home. You can 
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go for a little while, but if you are seriously disabled, you need a lot of care and you need a carer to 
help you. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Which was clearly not going to be his wife. 

Dr RANSOM: No. There were no children or anybody like that who was going to step up. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: This might be outside your field of expertise and it is a fairly new initiative, but, 
of course, you will have heard of the national disability insurance scheme. Presumably one of the 
benefits of that scheme is going to provide a carer for the wife in this situation. 

Dr RANSOM: Yes 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: She is disabled. But that will not address the situation in respect of a carer for 
him; hence the need for more bed space in hospices. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: In that particular case, you said that the hospice could not take him because 
of a time element. 

[3.20 pm] 

Dr RANSOM: There are only so many hospice beds available and they need to turn them over. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: What sort of time line are you able to have in a hospice bed? 

Dr RANSOM: I think, generally speaking, if people are expected to live more than three weeks, you 
do not get in. Is that too long, Amanda? 

Ms BOLLETER: There is not a stated time line for a limit in terms of access to hospice beds. It is based 
on patient need and the need to manage access to beds in the hospice. As we said earlier, the 
average length of stay in palliative care services in WA is about 10.3 days. But that is an average 
length of stay; it is not a requirement in terms of access. 

Dr RANSOM: To be clear, the average time that you spend in a hospice from the time you are 
admitted to your time of death is 10 days. If you are expected to go in a couple of months, that is a 
problem. 

The CHAIR: I think Reece Whitby had a question. 

Mr R.R. WHITBY: It is the same issue, Dr Ransom. You are saying quite clearly that there is a category 
of patient that exists who is likely to not die within that shorter time period, but there are often 
family situations or other situations which mean they cannot be cared for at home. So, what is 
happening? Are they staying in expensive hospital beds? 

Dr RANSOM: They are staying in hospital beds or nursing homes. 

Mr R.R. WHITBY: We know the consequence of hospital beds, which is probably at greater expense 
to the state. That is not the primary issue here; obviously it is the patient’s care. In nursing homes, 
what is the scenario that awaits them there? 

Dr RANSOM: We can get these patients into nursing homes. However, nursing homes are generally 
aimed at the frail aged. Here is a guy who is 50 and he is going into a nursing home. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: And he is going to die. 

Dr RANSOM: He is going to die in the nursing home. 

Mr R.R. WHITBY: So it is adding another dimension of stress for him and his family in that scenario. 
We need an intermediary stage or longer-term hospice facilities in this state. Is that what you are 
telling the committee? 

Dr RANSOM: Yes. 
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Mr R.R. WHITBY: How often would those services be required? How often would this come up? 

Dr RANSOM: How often do I deal with the situation? Every couple of months. It is not particularly 
uncommon. I do not have a handle on the numbers, but in my individual practice it would be every 
couple of months. Every two to three months, I am facing this issue, and I am one of nine at 
Fiona Stanley. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: It is a good point that has just been raised, and maybe Ms Bolleter would be 
able to answer as well—either of the witnesses. Does this idea of what I am going to call a medium-
term hospice exist elsewhere in Australia and other jurisdictions? 

Ms BOLLETER: I am not aware that a model like that exists. The standard palliative care approach 
that I am aware of in other jurisdictions and other countries is a mix of inpatient palliative care beds, 
hospital consultancy services and community services. I guess the other area that is relevant to this 
is the transition care program. Luke Hays also manages that program, so that might be an area for 
further focus, but I could not provide more detail on transition care at this time. 

Dr RANSOM: On the concept of a longer-term hospice, generally speaking most people have family. 
You have your loved one who is going to pass on soon, and you do not want to be travelling a long 
way. You want to be able to drop in and see them perhaps every day or at least every second day. 
In my view, we should not have a long-term hospice, because that would mean families would have 
to travel too far. We would be better to have increased capacity in the existing hospices and to make 
sure that they are geographically spread according to the population and needs. 

Mr J.E. McGRATH: Or triple the size of Silver Chain. 

Dr RANSOM: I do not know. It comes down to a budgetary issue. To provide a carer full time for 
somebody at home 24/7 gets enormously expensive. 

The CHAIR: I am going to go to palliative care standards. I understand you have our questions before 
you, and Ms Bolleter is probably the most appropriate witness, with some assistance from 
Dr Ransom. Do you want to address us on the issues we have outlined in the first couple of 
questions? 

Ms BOLLETER: Certainly. I will answer question one and then I will refer the second question to 
Dr Ransom. The first question relates to the national PCOC benchmark for community palliative care 
providers. The question asks why the benchmark for community palliative care providers is 
60 per cent relief of pain and suffering, compared with a 90 per cent benchmark for those in 
hospital. We have consulted with the Palliative Care Outcomes Collaborative in relation to your 
question and they have advised that there is actually no difference in pain benchmarks between 
settings. The benchmarks around pain and suffering are applied equally to services whether we are 
talking about the hospital or the community. There is a difference in that benchmark. There are four 
parts to that benchmark. I might not go into it in detail—we can provide more on notice. There is a 
difference of between 60 per cent and 90 per cent according to whether the patient has moderate 
or severe pain at the beginning or the end of their phase. That is where the 60 per cent and 
90 per cent figures come in. They do not relate to different settings; they relate to the level of pain 
and the phase of care that the patient is in. 

Dr RANSOM: My question is: is the inclusion of a KPI for the department based on access to palliative 
care solely for cancer patients still a legitimate measure? This KPI is included in the Department of 
Health annual report. This is a legitimate measure of access to palliative care for patients with 
cancer. However, it is not intended to measure effectiveness in relation to palliative care more 
broadly. 
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The CHAIR: What proportion of palliative care in WA is provided by volunteers, charitable groups 
and other non-government agencies? 

Ms BOLLETER: All specialist palliative care services that have a Department of Health contract or a 
contract through a health service provider to deliver palliative care are either hospitals or have 
hospital-level accreditation. Silver Chain, for example, has hospital-level accreditation. A significant 
proportion of their services will have a volunteer program—it is a very important part of the model 
of care—but they are all based within services that employ appropriately qualified staff as well. The 
volunteer roles are primarily in relation to respite, transport to appointments and carer support. It 
is not possible on the data that we have to provide an exact proportion of the care provided by 
volunteers but it is a very important part of the model. 

Mr S.A. MILLMAN: I have just a quick follow-up question to that. You prefaced your answer by 
talking about those who had contracts with the Department of Health. Is there any palliative care 
provided in this state that falls outside of the Department of Health? Is there any palliative provided 
by churches? 

Ms BOLLETER: There is palliative care that is contracted to non-government organisations. 

Mr S.A. MILLMAN: Would that contract be through the department? 

Ms BOLLETER: It is a contract through the Department of Health. I am not aware of any palliative 
care that is provided outside of those contracts. There may well be organisations in existence that 
are providing care to members of their own church, or something like that, that the Department of 
Health is not aware of. 

The CHAIR: I think you have touched on the accreditation standards. How are the standards 
achieved in the organisations that you contract to? 

Ms BOLLETER: As I said before, they are all expected to have that hospital-level accreditation and 
to meet the accreditation requirements associated with that. That is not directly managed by the 
Department of Health; that is managed by the accreditation agencies. 

The CHAIR: Are there any other questions on this? 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I want to go back to question one, which is about the benchmarks for relief 
of pain and suffering. You gave us some figures this morning about the 15 000 deaths in WA, of 
which let us say conservatively half were medically expected, not unexpected. Clearly, palliative care 
can deal only with the 50 per cent where there is some expectation of death. On those numbers, 
are we still looking at between 750 and about 4 500 people a year whose pain and suffering cannot 
be mitigated by palliative care? 

[3.30 pm] 

Ms BOLLETER: I would not draw that conclusion from the PCOC data. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: No. Can you help me draw a different conclusion from that? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I expected that you would say that. 

Ms BOLLETER: I would advise the committee that the PCOC data is very valuable. It is also very 
complex. I will do my best to answer the question today, but I would advise that it might be worth 
considering a witness from PCOC who can actually speak to it more comprehensively than I can. 
These are benchmarks. The 60 per cent and 90 per cent are benchmarks. They in no way equate to 
the actual level of relief of pain and suffering that is being provided. They are benchmarks for care, 
but you could not make a conclusion from that about the proportion of people whose pain was not 
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being managed. Beyond that, I think I would refer you to PCOC. I can provide more detail, as I said, 
around the phases and the benchmarks, but I would refer you to PCOC for more detail about how 
to accurately interpret the data, because it is complex. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I am just trying to get this into lay terms. Is your point that an individual might 
have their pain 70 per cent under control, which might be acceptable for a lot of people? On the 
pain scale out of 10, how much pain have you got? Seven is not a bad answer. 

Ms BOLLETER: I think at that point I would take that on notice, because I think we need to 
differentiate between the proportion of individuals who have their pain managed and what their 
scores are on the pain scale—and they are different. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Which is a different question—the technical stuff. Can we make that one 
question on notice and a note for the committee to follow up on the difference? 

Dr RANSOM: I would just like to say that if I had a patient and I asked them if their pain score was 
seven, I would have thought that was unacceptable. I would think, “I’ve got to do something here.” 
I would accept a one, a two or a three—sometimes a four—but if are up around seven or eight out 
of 10, it is not acceptable. I assume you guys are familiar with the pain score rate of 1 to 10. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Yes. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: I have had kidney stones. 

Dr RANSOM: You know what a 10 is. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I am going by recent experience where the answer to the question was 11. 
Seven felt quite good. 

The CHAIR: Are there any other questions for Dr Ransom? Otherwise, Dr Ransom can be excused. 
You are very welcome to stay. The remainder of our questions in the session are directed mostly 
towards Amanda Bolleter, but you are most welcome to stay. 

Dr RANSOM: Thank you. 

The CHAIR: Ms Bolleter, we will go to palliative care for children. You have the questions before you 
around palliative care for children. I would appreciate it if you could address us on this topic. 

Ms BOLLETER: Certainly. I will provide general answers to your questions. If you require further 
detail, then I would be recommending that you contact the health service provider concerned, the 
Child and Adolescent Health Service. Whether palliative care for children includes the same action 
options as for adults, I have consulted with a paediatric palliative care doctor at PMH who is the 
clinical lead for this program. She has advised that the options are the same, although it is important 
to note that there are no dedicated palliative care beds for children in WA, whether that is in a 
public, private or charitable organisation setting. 

The CHAIR: Are parents generally responsible for making treatment decisions on behalf of their 
children? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes, unless the child is a ward of the state or has a guardian appointed. 

The CHAIR: And for what ages are children consulted? 

Ms BOLLETER: There is no specific age, as the developmental level of the child and their ability to 
understand both the treatment and its consequences are taken into account by clinicians. Children 
are consulted or included if appropriate in accordance with their level of understanding as part of 
the decision-making process along with their parents or guardians. It is very much a case-by-case 
basis, guided by the assessment of clinicians. 
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The CHAIR: Does the department consult with the CEO of the Department of Communities, the 
Department for Child Protection and Family Support or any other agencies in relation to end-of-life 
treatment decisions for children? 

Ms BOLLETER: Not to my knowledge, unless the child is a ward of the state. 

The CHAIR: Is the department obliged to seek any additional approvals in these cases? 

Ms BOLLETER: Not as a general rule. 

The CHAIR: Is palliative care for children only available at PMH? 

Ms BOLLETER: No. Consultancy and advice is available across Western Australia. Funding is provided 
to the Child and Adolescent Health Service for a paediatric palliative care service which is based at 
PMH. That service works across the state wherever the child requires palliative care to provide direct 
care if it is needed and capacity building and consultancy for health professionals who are caring for 
a child. That applies, for example, in the metropolitan area if the child is at home with Silver Chain, 
or if they are in a rural setting, the paediatric palliative care service will often work with the rural 
palliative care teams that we talked about before to ensure that that care is provided. Palliative care 
for children on a population level is fairly rare. For many clinicians, if they care for a child at end of 
life, it may be the only time that they ever do that. That consultancy and capacity building is very 
important. 

The CHAIR: Does the department have any statistical data on child palliation other than those 
children at PMH? 

Ms BOLLETER: It is important to note that the data we have applies whether a child is at PMH or 
elsewhere in the state. They will be referred to the statewide paediatric palliative care consultancy 
team and, as I said, that team provides advice across the state. There are a total of 42 referrals to 
the service as of 30 September 2017. That is not quite a full year of data. It is a fairly small number 
of cases. That reflects the very low prevalence of life-threatening conditions for children in the 
population. For this population we see our higher proportion of non-malignant conditions, often 
neurodegenerative or inherited conditions. The treatment rates and the success rates for childhood 
cancer are relatively high. We do not see the same proportion of children with cancer in that group 
as we would in an adult population. That means that their needs are quite different and the model 
of care is quite different to adult palliative care. 

The CHAIR: Is there any specific monitoring of child palliation? 

Ms BOLLETER: There is no specific monitoring other than that already required and, as we talked 
about before, children would also be covered by the Department of Health policy—the mandatory 
policy requiring health service providers to undertake a review of death to ensure that the quality 
of care provided was appropriate. Hospitals will have their local processes for this as well. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: You mentioned that there were 32 referrals to the end of this September 2017. 
Is it possible to get previous calendar year figures? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes. I would need to check how far back that data goes, but we can provide that on 
notice. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: If I were to ask for the last 10 years, would that be unreasonable? 

Ms BOLLETER: I would need to check up about the data goes because it links to the commencement 
of the service. We would need to check, but we can certainly provide data back to the beginning of 
the collection. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Even if that happens to be more than 10 years? 
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Ms BOLLETER: I do not think it would be more than 10 years because the paediatric palliative care 
service was established in about 2008. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Okay. 

The CHAIR: We will follow up on that one and take that on notice. 

I am going to move to access to palliative care for mentally ill and disabled patients. Do you want to 
address us on this topic in relation to the question? 

Ms BOLLETER: Certainly. In terms of the options for palliative care for mentally ill and disabled 
patients, essentially the options for palliative care and the issues involved are the same for mentally 
ill and disabled patients and for prisoners as they are for other persons. I know that is a further 
question, but the options that are available are the same as for everybody else in the population. 

The CHAIR: For those who lack sufficient capacity, who makes treatment decisions on their behalf? 

Ms BOLLETER: Treatment decisions are made in the same way as they are for all other persons. The 
hierarchy of decision-makers guides these decisions. If a person responsible cannot be identified 
through that hierarchy of decision-makers, an application would need to be made to the State 
Administrative Tribunal for a guardian to be appointed. 

The CHAIR: Is there a requirement that the person be consulted? 

Ms BOLLETER: There is the same requirement as for all other persons. I will just check that you are 
talking about a person who lacks sufficient capacity. There are the same requirements for all other 
people who lack capacity; that is, we would refer to the hierarchy of decision-makers to identify an 
appropriate person to make a decision on their behalf. 

The CHAIR: Is supported decision-making employed? 

Ms BOLLETER: It is employed in the same way as it is for all other people. Clinicians will also look at 
partial or fluctuating capacity. They will refer to the hierarchy of decision-makers to identify if they 
think someone has got fluctuating capacity. They might be capable of making some decisions but 
not so confident on others. Clinicians would be referring to the hierarchy of decision-makers to 
identify someone who can help that person to make a decision. If it is clear that the person still does 
not have capacity to make a decision, they will refer to the hierarchy of decision-makers for a 
substitute decision-maker. 

The CHAIR: Does the department consult with the Public Advocate or any other agencies in these 
cases? 

Ms BOLLETER: This is probably a question that you would need to ask the Public Advocate, with 
permission, please. 

The CHAIR: Is the department obliged to seek any additional approval in these cases? 

Ms BOLLETER: It is the same approvals as for all other persons. Individual health service providers 
or agencies might have their own approval processes, too. 

The CHAIR: Is there any specific monitoring of these cases? 

Ms BOLLETER: It is the same monitoring as for all other people, and, once again, individual health 
service providers or organisations may have their own requirements. 

[3.40 pm] 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Ms Bolleter, I am conscious of the fact that you are working for the 
Department of Health and so, understandably, would be giving your evidence in a full and frank way 
but also out of due deference to your employer. Is there an advocacy group that you might refer us 
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to who might be able to identify gaps or concerns in palliative care for mentally ill and disabled 
patients? 

Ms BOLLETER: I am just thinking through whether there is a specific group that I am aware of that 
has that as part of its terms of reference. I am not aware of a group with that specific role. I think I 
would refer you to Palliative Care WA as the peak body for palliative care in the first instance, and 
they might be able to identify disability advocacy groups they may have worked with around this. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Would that be the same with respect to children? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes; I would refer to Palliative Care WA in the first instance. 

The CHAIR: Thank you. We will move to palliative care for prisoners and those in detention. I think 
you have indicated that the answers will be similar, but we will go through them. Are the options 
for palliative care of prisoners and those in detention the same as other patients? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes, they are. 

The CHAIR: For those who lack sufficient capacity, again, who makes the treatment decisions on 
their behalf? 

Ms BOLLETER: I say once again that this is the same for prisoners as it is for other people. 

The CHAIR: But there is still a requirement to consult that person? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes, there is. 

The CHAIR: That supported decision-making is employed? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes, where it is appropriate, it would still be employed. 

The CHAIR: And again, does the department consult with the Public Advocate or other agencies in 
these cases? 

Ms BOLLETER: I would request that you seek further information from the Public Advocate around 
that. 

The CHAIR: Is the department obliged to seek any additional approvals in these cases? 

Ms BOLLETER: Not that I am aware of, but individual health service providers may do that. 

The CHAIR: But not from the Department of Corrective Services? 

Ms BOLLETER: No. I cannot comment on behalf of the Department of Corrective Services. 

The CHAIR: But the department does not require any approvals from the Department of Health? 

Ms BOLLETER: Not from the Department of Health, no. 

The CHAIR: Is there any specific monitoring in these cases? 

Ms BOLLETER: No, it is the same as for other people. 

The CHAIR: I will just go to the final set of questions for this session about palliative care future 
demand. What provisions are in place or are being developed to meet the increased future demand 
for palliative care, with specific regard to community services, inpatient wards, consultancy services 
and research and specialist advice? 

Ms BOLLETER: Overall, I think we have talked about a number of these initiatives already today, but 
the need to plan for future demand is included in the 2018 to 2028 draft strategy. Also, it is worth 
noting that the funding that was an election commitment which related specifically to the rural 
palliative care program and the paediatric palliative care program and also the NPCS service—the 
service that goes into residential facilities—was originally funded through fixed-term election 
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commitment funding and as of this financial year that funding has now been converted to recurrent 
funding for those programs, which gives greater certainty in terms of that service provision. 
Professor Geelhoed referred earlier to some of the end-of-life care initiatives that the department 
is implementing, particularly the rollout of a statewide approach to assessing and documenting 
goals of patient care and also advance care planning, which we will talk about in a later session 
today. I think our colleagues from WACHS this morning talked about some of the innovative 
technology that is being used in terms of a telehealth pilot to ensure that patients can have access 
to advice from a palliative care physician by using a tablet in their home, for example, or initiatives 
that are planned or in place.  

So really around community services, I would refer to those previous answers and also just add the 
rollout of the ePalCIS database to enable accurate reporting and demonstration of demand for 
services. At the moment, we do not have the data to demonstrate that increased demand. Similarly, 
for inpatient wards, it is about the rollout of the database to provide that data. We are constantly 
monitoring the implementations of milestones related to palliative care, which were in the clinical 
services framework, which specifies the level of palliative care that each service in Western Australia 
is expected to achieve, and the department monitors that on an ongoing basis. We are also looking 
at strengthening referral pathways for community and inpatient settings. For consultancy services, 
I think it is really the same sort of initiatives that we have just talked about; there is nothing 
additional to add there. Around research and specialist advice services, once again, having a 
complete dataset through the rollout of ePalCIS will also provide researchers with more information 
and more data that they can use as part of their research, which will be of benefit to everybody, and 
there is a palliative care research collaborative, which is in existence currently and which is a 
consortium between a couple of different agencies, and that has in-kind support from the 
Department of Health as well. 

The CHAIR: Is the current policy and governance framework for palliative care in WA adequate? 

Ms BOLLETER: We developed models of care for palliative care in WA in 2008. Those models of care 
are an overall model of care, a rural model of care, a paediatric model of care and then, more 
recently, a perinatal model of care. These models have absolutely provided an appropriate policy 
framework. Implementation of those models has been overseen since that time by the palliative 
care advisory committee and the network. I think since then we have noted that the needs in the 
community are changing and I think the policy framework across Australia and internationally is 
changing, and that is why we developed and released the end-of-life framework in 2016, which 
Professor Geelhoed talked about, which gives us a statewide model for comprehensive, coordinated 
care at end of life. As Professor Geelhoed said, he has chaired the steering committee that has 
overseen the implementation of that work. More recently, we have identified—this is partly also 
the changing role for the Department of Health as a system manager—that we need a specific policy 
around end-of-life care and specialist palliative care, and that is why we have developed the 10-year 
strategy that is in its draft form at the moment. 

The CHAIR: When will that be publicly available? 

Ms BOLLETER: It has just been released for consultation, and that consultation period has just 
closed, so we are incorporating the feedback that has been provided, and we anticipate that it will 
be available early next year. We cannot give an exact date; it depends on the volume and the 
complexity of the feedback that we have received. 

The CHAIR: So early 2018? 

Ms BOLLETER: Yes. 
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Hon NICK GOIRAN: You mentioned the perinatal model of care and that is recent. When you say 
“recent”, how recent? 

Ms BOLLETER: I would need to check the exact date, but I think it would have been 2016. I will take 
that on notice and just confirm that exactly with you. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: If you could. Are you able to advise the committee what brought about this new 
model of care in or around 2016? 

Ms BOLLETER: The perinatal model of care? It was really reflecting very good work that had been 
done by clinicians in the paediatric palliative care service and also at King Edward Memorial Hospital 
for Women, where they identified and agreed on a shared model of care. It was a good example of 
really good clinical work that had been done that was identified that we could make that into a 
statewide model of care to ensure that there was consistent care in the perinatal period across the 
state. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Who would be best to brief the committee on this model of care? 

Ms BOLLETER: It is a model of care that has been published by the Department of Health, so we 
could brief you on that, but I would also be seeking some clinical input from clinicians working in 
that area as well. 

The CHAIR: Thank you for your evidence before the committee today. A transcript of this hearing 
will be forwarded to you for correction of minor errors. Any such corrections must be made and the 
transcript returned within 10 working days from the date of the email attached to the transcript. If 
the transcript is not returned with this period, it will be deemed to be correct. New material cannot 
be added via these corrections and the sense of your evidence cannot be altered. Should you wish 
to provide additional information or elaborate on particular points, please include a supplementary 
submission for the committee’s consideration when you return your corrected transcript of 
evidence. The committee will write to you with the questions taken on notice during the hearing, 
and in addition we will include the proposed questions that we were unable to address due to time 
constraints. I will close this hearing. Thank you. We will take a five-minute break. 

Hearing concluded at 3.50 pm 

__________ 
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